2000

Howard F. Hatch v. Dwane J. Sykes : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This case was appealed to the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to Title

78, Chapter 2, Section 2 (3) (j) of the Utah Judicial Code, Utah Code, 1998.

The case was subject to assignment to the Court of Appeals and has been poured-over to the Court of Appeals for disposition under 78-2a-3 (2) (j).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

A. Sykes Allowed to Slander Hatch and make Himself a Hero.

1. A trial court judge's first obligation is to see that the
adversary parties are treated equally, without undue preference shown to either party. It is his first order of business to see that an "even playing field" is maintained throughout the trial. (Utah Code 78-7-5, Powers of Every Court. General Provisions Applicable to Courts and Judges.)

This is true in all cases, but especially critical in a trial by jury as the members of the jury can only view the facts in their proper light when they are unclouded by any kind of prejudice or bias. In this case, the debtor/defendant Dwane J. Sykes ("Sykes") was allowed to make manifold irrelevant statements as though they were statements of fact which was a great waste of the court's time and created confusion for the jury.

Furthermore, Sykes was permitted to make numerous comments of a derogatory nature about Plaintiff/appellant Howard F. Hatch ("Hatch") in an effective effort to prejudice the members of the jury in his own favor and to

go on endlessly bragging about himself to bias the jury in his favor. This constituted a clear violations of Rules 401, 402 and 403, of the *Utah Rules of Evidence* and was an **abuse of discretion** on the judge's part. No party should be allowed to make such prejudicial, inflammatory or slanderous statements, about the adverse party.

2. While it is true that whenever a witness begins to make statements that are irrelevant, immaterial or prejudicial, especially those which might bias the jury toward either party, an objection should be immediately voiced and such testimony interrupted. Unfortunately, Hatch's attorney failed on many occasions to do so out of fear of offending the trial court judge and in the interest of time. **But objections were made by counsel and sanctions should have been assessed against Sykes.** Even when objections were made, far too often, the judge let Sykes continue to ramble on with derogatory remarks. Regardless, the trial court judge himself has the primary responsibility of controlling the parties and seeing that neither party oversteps his bounds. From the very beginning of the trial, as noted above, Sykes was allowed way too much latitude both in presenting irrelevant material which delayed the proceedings and distracted the jury members from the real issues and/or made statements which had a tendency to favor

himself or influence the jury against the cause of Hatch.

Even in his opening statement Sykes was permitted to create a bias in his favor repeatedly without interruption or sanctions being issued by the judge. (Please see R-2469, Trial Transcript dated October 18, 1999, pages 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 13 to 21, & 23) and in spite of plaintiff's attorney's repeated objections (pp. 6, 13, 14, 16, 17, & 18.)

3. Sykes was allowed to say such things as, "I am the victim myself." (ibid 3/16; "I tried to settle with Mr. Hatch . . . this is not about money . . . he (Mr. Hatch) said: 'I am going to pursue you and your family to your dying days.' And that is what he is doing." (ibid 9/6-13); "I guess I should probably add that during the last few months I have had a major stroke, and open-heart surgery, and major joint replacement . . . I had to learn to talk and walk again in the last few months" (ibid 10/12-16); "And the evidence will show that not only did he back date the date of the deed, and he lied about it, but then he admitted that he had lied about it and he admitted that he had" (ibid 17/22-25).

4. Sykes continued the same sort of inflammable and false statements in his direct examination. Please see his testimony as transcribed in R-2470, Transcript of October 19, 1999, pp. 6, 8, 33 wherein he was allowed

to make such statements as "I am 100 percent disabled, medically disabled. Actually, medically, physically disabled and emotionally disabled." (ibid 6/22-24) And in response to a question about whether he had received a law degree, he answered, "On the disability, I had a stroke right in the middle of the Duchesne thing about six years ago. It was only a mild stroke and a nervous breakdown. And then this year I had a traumatic stroke, which totally disabled me . . . " (ibid 8/3-6) (Even though this was totally nonresponsive to the question asked.) And then one final outrageous assertion: "After a 44-year relationship, because of the problems with Mr. Hatch, my wife divorced me." (ibid 33/7-8)

5. This constituted clearly an **abuse of discretion** on the judge's part as no party should be allowed to make such prejudicial, inflammatory or slanderous statements about an adverse party in a law suit. Nor should a party be allowed to make himself out as a hero when it is completely irrelevant and not supported by the facts and true evidence. See Rule 401, et seq., Utah Rules of Evidence.

6. *Additional supporting citations in the record.* Not only was Sykes allowed to make wild, untrue and gratuitous accusations against Hatch in his opening statement and while he examined himself as a witness, he was

allowed to ramble on interminably during his own direct, i.e., being examined as his own witness by himself. In spite of Judge Burningham's warning to Mr. Sykes to "make just brief statements of fact . . . we can't have you just be narrative either. So just state pertinent facts or identify documents." R-2473, Trial Transcript of October 25, 1999, 5/6-10. The witness began immediately with a long narrative about a totally irrelevant matter concerning some alleged zoning violation by Mr. Hatch, having nothing to do with the case, the intention being clearly prejudicial. Hatch's attorney, Mr. Abbott, interposed an objection. After allowing discussion between the parties for another several pages of testimony and voir dire examination, Judge Burningham not only allowed Mr. Sykes to continue testifying about such an irrelevant matter, but even granted him the liberty of introducing a prejudicial exhibit, No. 113, (ibid 13/7-11) being a letter from Orem City threatening Hatch with legal action for an alleged zoning violation. And in spite of the judge's warning that he was not going to allow Sykes to retry the case leading up to the money judgment against him, (ibid 7/7-15) he thus opened wide the door for all kinds of irrelevant and prejudicial material to come in.

7. Thereafter, Mr. Sykes was allowed to continue his narration for

another page and half on the same irrelevant and prejudicial matter, while acknowledging that it was part of the prior suit, which triggered another objection from Mr. Amott that was finally sustained by Judge Burningham (ibid 15/22-25). This did not stop Sykes, who tried to go right on with the same story, requiring the judge to remind Sykes the objection had been sustained and saying, "If you're talking about the '81 case, you need to move on" (ibid 16/5-6). However, the damage to Hatch's character had already been done.

Undaunted, Sykes returned immediately to say, "Orem City was an active participant in that suit and they filed a ---" which caused the judge to remind him to "move away from that and just get back to this lawsuit, okay"(ibid 17/12-13). Nevertheless, Sykes, as his own witness plunged right back into narrative on matters clearly out of the prior suit, "very briefly and quickly," as he put it (ibid 17/14), then goes for 3 and a half pages of testimony until finally Mr. Abott interjects an objection which the court sustained. But the irrepressible Sykes plunged right back on the same tack for another three full pages (ibid pp. 21, 22 & 23).

8. In spite of the judge's warning that he must "Hurry right along" (ibid 36/11), Sykes continued his expansive narrative for another 3 pages

when he said he wanted to "summarize his opening statements (39/12-13). This gave the judge some pause, but he allowed Sykes to go on to extol the virtues of the children's trust, and how it had benefited them, hoping to thus influence the jury into not disturbing the "assets of the trust" in order that he might pay his own debts.

Which brings us to the most outrageous of all of Sykes maneuvers. The court allowed Sykes to introduce a totally irrelevant and self-serving article, over Mr. Abott's strenuous objections (ibid 42/19-21), which Sykes claimed had appeared in the local newspaper, extolling his merits as a member of the "Explorers Club of New York City" (ibid pages 41 through 43). Please see **defendant's exhibit 60** in the record, entitled: "Have Guts, Will Travel," for the full article, but let us quote just a few sentences from Sykes direct testimony: "I was one of four Utah's (sic) who had been elected to the explorer club, that's with other people such as Neil Armstrong, who walked on the moon and the people who climbed Mount Everest, and Richard Bird, etc." (ibid 41/13-16). Sykes goes on to postulate that his own life was possibly the model for the movie character "Indiana Jones," "a boy scout from a little tiny town in Utah who is adventurous and goes off and does all kinds of things . . . " (ibid 42/13-14.

9. As Mr. Sykes continued his "direct testimony," more appropriately
his "disparaging and prejudicial narrative," he was allowed to make a direct
attack against Hatch in these words: "In the process of my ship sinking in
the Uintah Basin I had a nervous breakdown. I had a stroke, a very minor
stroke at that time. I began seeing a psychiatrist. One of my psychiatrists--
Mr. Hatch harassed both me and the psychiatrist. His name ---
attempting to cause me duress with the psychiatrist, and asking for
information. I had a mental evaluation that said I had suffered post
traumatic stress disorder as a result of the -- my ship sinking in Duchesne . .
. " (ibid 55/10-17). (Emphasis added.) He then proposed to "testify"
concerning the "reputation of Howard Hatch in the community for honesty
and veracity" (ibid 55/23-24). Of course, the plaintiff's attorney strenuously
objected to such testimony, which the judge sustained. But this did not stop
Sykes from proposing to offer "specific names and signatures" (ibid 56/16).
He was only cut off when the judge said, "So don't argue with me any
more." (ibid 56/22).

10. From the very beginning of the trial, as noted above, Sykes was
allowed almost unlimited latitude both in presenting irrelevant material
which distracted the jury members from the real issues and/or statements

which had a tendency to favor himself or influence them against the cause of Hatch.

11. The trial court **abused its discretion** by allowing Sykes to continue to slander Hatch with irrelevant, derogatory and mostly false charges, while making himself the victim, alleging he had suffered under Hatch's abusive conduct. There was "no reasonable basis for" allowing the diatribe of Sykes. The whole scenario was "arbitrary and capricious." See generally *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935-39 and *Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch.*, 860 P.2d 937, 938 (Utah 1993) and *Kunzler v. O'Dell*, 855 P.2d 270, 275 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). The standard of review is Abuse of Discretion.

B. Inappropriate Jury Instruction # 19

1. Over the plaintiff's very strenuous objections, the trial court allowed Sykes to insert a jury instruction that challenged the integrity of Hatch's cause and made jury members wonder just who had dirty hands and how to handle him. In what way, shape or form, could the issue of "unclean hands" come into play when the action was merely to collect an honest debt based on a legal judgment against Sykes? And especially one based not alone on a judgment in the appropriate lower court but one tested on appeal? (See Court of Appeals case number 960561-CA, appealing the

reduction of judgment in 4th District Court case No. 810457127, a copy of which final judgment can be found as Plaintiff's Exhibit 45 in the subject case on appeal.)

We review challenges to jury instructions under a "correctness" standard. *See Steffensen v. Smith's Mgmt. Corp.*, 862 P.2d 1342, 1346 (Utah 1993) *Child v. Gonda*, 972 P.2d 425, 429 (Utah 1998)

2. To allow jury instruction 19 to go to the jury was a **violation of case law** on the part of the lower court. See Rule 51, *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure* and *Powers v. Gene's Bldg. Materials, Inc.*, 567 P. 2d 174, 176. The jury instruction was not "supported by the evidence." Including # 19 as a jury instruction created great prejudice toward Hatch and his case.

3. (See Vonda Bassett's report numbered R-002752, pages 3 & 4 dated October 26, 1999.) Here the judge and Mr. Sykes were considering the clean hands jury instruction. On page 3, lines 23-24, Mr. Sykes set forth his requested jury instruction, and he described it as "Two prongs of that: Unclean hands and he who seeks equity, must do equity." On page 3 Sykes, at his own request, was excused and the attorneys, with the judge, considered the jury instructions "off the record." It was at this time the plaintiff (off the record) vigorously objected to and argued against including

jury instruction 19.

4. The next day (October 27, 1999), on page 3 of Vonda Bassett's report, the Court speaking to Sykes stated: "And Mr. Abbott, I know, **objected** to your equity instruction, **but I did give it**. So with that, should we go on the record? Maybe we're on the record." R-002753 (Lines 17-20.) (Emphasis added.)

5. In Vonda Bassett's report for October 27, 1999 (R-002753) on pages 22-24 the following exchange took place: The Court: "We can return, Mr. Abbott, to the objections you had to any of the jury instructions." Mr. Abbott: "I think it would just be the one that was given on the equity instruction. My objection as I expressed it this morning -- that even if this is considered properly a matter of equity or a case of equity, the very nature of the case was somewhat unique in that none of the testimony or even the facts precedent to what was to be received came from the plaintiff other than the fact that he had to have a judgment he was trying to collect, which is a matter of record on court. And, therefore -- and also in light of the fact that I had made numerous objections during the trial to evidence that came in regarding actions of Mr. Hatch that I felt were irrelevant to the issues the jury had to decide."

"It seems to me the equity instruction given about having clean hands, while certainly an axiom of the law and a truism about what equity is, nevertheless improperly focused the jury on issues that were not in evidence, that were not to be decided by them, and really were not at issue. And that was my objection to using it. **I felt it was unnecessary and could cause prejudicial harm to my client.** (Emphasis added.)

6. Sykes reveals his modus operandi in the case. Following Mr. Abbott's recognition that the jury instruction on the clean hands doctrine "could cause prejudicial harm to" Hatch, the court asked Sykes if he "would like to respond?" Sykes' response was:

"I'd like to respond. Of course, I left this to the discretion of the court, other than having requested it. I'll respond in that the court could have very well, according to the law, and the CGS citations in my summary judgment motion -- **the court could have instructed the jury on this that even if they found that all of the plaintiff's allegations were true and that Dwane Sykes was totally at fault, that they could still not award any relief to the plaintiff Hatch if they found him to have unclean hands.**" (Emphasis added.)

In this admission by Sykes, he reveals, without apology, his whole

purpose (his modus operandi) in dragging Hatch through the mud and in giving Hatch the tar brush treatment without any justification. It also makes clear his reason for requesting Jury Instruction 19 on the clean hands doctrine.

7. This was not a case in Equity. It was an attempt to collect a valid, court determined debt from Sykes. And even had it been a case in Equity, Hatch entered the case with clean hands and prosecuted the case with clean hands from the beginning to the end. Sykes "m. o." was to confuse the jury with slanderous statements against Hatch that had nothing to do with the debt collection, the case under consideration. In spite of objections by plaintiff's counsel and court admonishments, Sykes succeeded in clouding the issues with case unrelated accusations against Hatch and then succeeded in getting the clean hands doctrine put before the jury, in Jury Instruction 19, on Equity and clean hands.

8. Hatch had clean hands throughout the trial. He was simply trying to collect on a court ordered debt. The dirt that Sykes threw at Hatch had nothing to do with the trial. So even if the voiced criticisms by Sykes had been true, they had nothing to do with the trial as the law requires. The trial court should have put a muzzle on Sykes and should have forewarned the

jury.

9. The jury instruction 19 had no place in this case and its use was not legally allowed and was more than a clear abuse of discretion with what was allowed in the record. Surely, the jury reasoned, if Hatch has unclean hands as Sykes has charged him with throughout the trial, then we certainly cannot favor Hatch with a verdict and be true to Jury Instruction 19 that the court has charged us with.

"In order for the doctrine of (unclean hands) to apply, the improper conduct must relate directly to the underlying litigation. In other words, the inequitable conduct must have an immediate and necessary relation to the claims under which relief is sought." *Nakahara v. NS 1991 American Trust*, 718 A.2d, 518, 522 (Del. Ch. 1998). Cited by *AJAY SPORTS, INC. v. CASAZZA*, 1 P.3d 267, 276. Colorado Court of Appeals, Div. IV, March 16, 2000. (Emphasis added.)

"The unclean hands doctrine (also known as the clean hands doctrine) 'stands for the proposition that a litigant may be denied relief by a court of equity on the ground that his conduct has been inequitable, unfair and dishonest, or fraudulent and deceitful **as to the controversy in issue.**'" *Gilbert v. Nampa Sch. Dist. No. 131*, 104 Idaho 137, 145, 657 P.2d 1, 9 (1983) (internal quotations omitted). **A trial court's application of the doctrine is subject to appellate review for abuse of discretion.** (Cited in *Kirkman v. Stoker*, 6 P.3d 397, 400 (Supreme Court of Idaho, July 7, 2000) (Emphasis added.)

"In order to successfully raise the defense of 'unclean hands,' the defendant must show: (1) that the plaintiff perpetrated some wrongdoing; and (2) **that the wrongful act related to the action being litigated.**" *Hoffman Construction Company v. U.S.*

Fabrication & Erection, Inc. 32 P.3d 346, 360, Supreme Court of Alaska (2001). (Emphasis added.)

10. Other cases, likewise, hold that any claim charging unclean
hands to another party must show that the party acted unfairly and with
"fraud or deceit **as to the controversy in issue.**" See *Knaebel v. Heiner*,
663 P.2d 551, 554 Supreme Court of Alaska,(1983); *Martin v. Allbritton*,
862 P.2d 569, 573. Court of Appeals of Oregon (1993). *Hoopas v. Hoopas*,
861 P.2d 88, 92. Court of Appeals of Idaho (1993). (Emphasis added.)

Unclean hands "argument is without merit" where plaintiff "did not
seek equitable relief." *Ayer v. General Dynamics Corporation*,
625 P.2d 913, 915. Court of Appeals of Arizona, Div. 1 (1980)

11. With the lower court allowing a plethora of statements by Sykes
degrading Hatch, impugning his honesty, challenging his integrity and
simply giving him the tar brush, dirty treatment, while building himself as
the good guy, the hero of our day, the one who has suffered endlessly over
the years because of Hatch's dirty treatment, and then allowing the "unclean
hands" doctrine to go to the jury for their consideration was a clear violation
of case law as clearly pronounced by numerous courts on the subject. We
believe this abuse of discretion in allowing false, slanderous and irrelevant
charges into the record and the illegal use of jury instruction 19, lost the
case for Hatch. Hatch's case was strong in his effort to collect on a court

order judgment, with Sykes playing loosely with properties and money in his efforts to conceal his assets from creditors.

12. The trial court violated case law when it allowed jury instruction 19 to go to the jury. The Instruction reads: "EQUITY A remedy of equity, and one who invokes it must have clean hands in having done equity himself." (R-2135).

There was "no reasonable basis" to allow that instruction to go to the jury. *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 936-39 (Utah 1994), *Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch.* 860 P.2d 937, 938 (Utah 1993).

Giving in to Sykes' request to include the "clean hands" doctrine, with no justification for it, was an "arbitrary and capricious action." *Kunzler v. O'Dell*, 855 P.2d 270, 275 (Utah Ct. App. 1993).

13. This was not a case in equity. Hatch had scrupulously clean hands. He was attempting to collect a court judgment against Sykes, from assets Sykes was doing all he could do to conceal.

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