2000

Howard F. Hatch v. Dwane J. Sykes : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Appellee Sykes to make certain statements and introduce two documents during the course of litigation. On the contrary, the trial court exercised proper and direct control over the proceedings and instructed the jury appropriately as to the law and the testimony offered during trial. Appellee Sykes represented himself in the matter. The trial court set clear parameters for Sykes. Appellant's attorney failed to object to many of Appellee Sykes' statements. Furthermore, any statements by Sykes that were admitted over Appellant's objections were harmless and did not prejudice the jury.

Jury instruction #19 was appropriate given the charges made by Appellant against Appellee Sykes. The trial court deemed the case to involve issues of equity and therefore allowed jury instruction #19 to be included. Even if jury instruction #19 was not entirely appropo to the case, the balance of the jury instructions and the reception of evidence and management of the trial by the trial court as well as closing arguments evidence that the

parties received a fair trial and that the jury was not prejudiced by the sole “offending” instruction.

By filing his Motion to Dismiss, Defendant William Christiansen acceded to the jurisdiction of the trial court even though he was not served with the Amended Complaint. Even if this Court determines that the trial court erred procedurally in granting the Motion to Dismiss, Appellant subsequently, and of his own accord, motioned the trial court to dismiss William Christiansen after receiving the Mr. Christiansen’s Motion to Dismiss. Defendant William Christiansen was dismissed and all parties agreed to the dismissal. The only questions remaining, if any, are whether the trial court should have granted attorney’s fees to Mr. Christiansen on his Motion to Dismiss and whether subsequent sanctions were appropriate.

ARGUMENT

1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Appellee Sykes to make certain statements as a pro se Defendant in the action.

The determination by a trial court to admit or exclude evidence under Rule 403 of the Utah Rules of evidence is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard and will not be overturned unless it is “beyond the limits of reasonability.” *State v. 633 East 640 North*, 942 P.2d 925, 930 (Utah 1997) (quoting *State v. Hamilton*, 827 P.2d 232, 239-40 (Utah 1992)).

“A trial court’s rulings with regard to the admissibility of evidence are generally

accorded substantial deference: “[t]rial courts have wide latitude in making determinations of relevance, probativeness, and prejudice.” *Diversified Holdings, L.C. v. Turner*, 63 P.3d 686 (Utah 2002) (quoting *State v. 633 East 640 North*, 942 P.2d 925, 929 (Utah 1997)).

Appellant’s first issue on appeal concerns statements made by Appellee Dwane Sykes (who appeared *pro se*) during the course of trial. In his appellate brief, Appellant relies primarily upon emotion-laden and generalized terms in arguing that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing Appellee Sykes to make certain statements during trial.

Appellant argues that, among other things, Appellee Dwane Sykes was allowed to: “slander [Mr.] Hatch and make himself a hero,” “make manifold irrelevant statements of fact which was a great waste of the court’s time and created confusion for the jury,” “make numerous comments of a derogatory nature about [Mr. Hatch],” “go on endlessly bragging about himself to bias the jury in his favor,” “make prejudicial, inflammatory, or slanderous statements,” and to “make wild, untrue gratuitous accusations.” [See Appellant’s Brief, pp. 8-12].

This sort of vague generalizing, however, does not prove that the trial court abused its discretion. Appellant does provide a few specific examples of statements made by Appellee Sykes during the trial that he deems prejudicial. Many of those statements, as Appellant acknowledges, were made during Appellee Sykes opening statement. [See Appellant’s Brief, p. 10].

While it is true that Appellant's counsel interposed several objections during Appellee Sykes' opening statement, a review of Sykes' opening remarks and their corresponding objections (as specifically cited by Appellant in its brief at p. 10) proves that the trial court handled the objections appropriately, and that no prejudice resulted:

1. MR. SYKES: "To show that it [sic] intended fraud, he [Mr. Hatch] has to show according to—he has to show that I made the conveyance without receiving reasonable equivalent value, and that at the time I became insolvent as a result of the transfers." MR. AMOTT: "I will place an objection on the record. This is a misstatement of the law. It is incomplete, and inaccurate, and confusing to the jury." THE COURT: "Let me advise the jury. I am going to be advising you as to what the law is. I will be instructing you as to what the law is, and I think what this attorney says isn't law. What Mr. Sykes says as his own attorney is not evidence either. I think he will be sworn. He will be asked questions and he will be testifying. At that time you can consider it as evidence . . . So, again, to the extent you hear any statements of what the law is, it is inconsistent with what I instruct you. My instructions will be the law and you are to follow my instructions, okay?" [See October 18, 1999 Transcript of Proceedings, 6:11 through 7:8 (bate stamped 2469)].¹
2. MR. AMOTT: "Do we have testimony here, or are we giving an opening statement?" THE COURT: "Tell me, is this going to be evidence that you are going to present?" MR. SYKES: "This is what the evidence will show." THE COURT: "All right. Go ahead." MR. SYKES: "The reasons for the lawsuit, the evidence will show, is. . . ." [See October 18, 1999 Transcript of Proceedings, 13:15-22 (bate stamped 2469)].
3. MR. AMOTT: "If he is going to testify again now—and also again, I am just worrying about our time frame." THE COURT: "This should just be a very brief outline of what you're going to present. If they are going to hear it in evidence, you can argue at the close of trial." MR. SYKES: So we determined

¹ The bate stamp number is provided because several of the transcripts are from proceedings that occurred on the same day. Page number and line number (where necessary for reference) shall be separated by a colon (i.e. 6:11 through 7:8 indicates that the information is taken from page 6 at line 11 and continuing through page 7 at line 8).

that the thing to do would be to donate the house into the trust, also.” [See October 18, 1999 Transcript of Proceedings, 14:16-22 (bate stamped 2469)].

4. MR. AMOTT: “I am going to object, your Honor. There has been again—he is not only testifying not under oath, he is testifying about irrelevant things that are not going to be in the trial.” THE COURT: “How does this relate to the matter that is before this Court and this jury.” (Thereafter, the trial court, Mr. Amott and Mr. Sykes discuss the relevance of the issue of title to a certain parcel of property). THE COURT: “Yes. Just try to outline what you think the evidence will show. Don’t go into all of the details of all of the evidence now, or we won’t ever get through. But do tell us that he had a piece of property and just what you think the evidence will show, just briefly.” [See October 18, 1999 Transcript of Proceedings, 16:11 through 18:16 (bate stamped 2469)].

Although a recitation of the foregoing testimony is laborious, such an exercise *clearly* shows that the trial court acted appropriately in instructing the jury when Appellant’s counsel objected to certain statements made by Appellee Sykes. Moreover, the trial court properly restricted Sykes when he began speaking too freely about irrelevant subject matter during his opening arguments. Because Appellee Sykes represented himself *pro se*, it is understandable that some objections would be made and that the trial court would have to provide some guidance during trial. The record proves that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when handling certain objections made by Appellant. On the contrary, the trial court instructed both the jury and Appellee Sykes as to the requirements of the law, and advised Sykes to avoid belaboring irrelevant points.

Appellant also takes issue with certain statements made by Appellee Sykes about his own health, and with negative statements made by Appellee Sykes against Appellant. [See Appellant’s Brief, p. 10]. Appellant does not inform this Court, however, that none

of these particular statements were objected to. Nor does Appellant clarify the fact that these statements were made during opening arguments.

Appellant lists another set of “inflammable and false statements” made by Appellee Sykes during Sykes’ direct examination by Mr. Amott. [See Appellant’s Brief, p. 10-11].

However, a review of the trial transcript shows that Mr. Amott did not object to *any* of these alleged “inflammable and false statements” at the time they were made.

In *Groberg v. Housing Opportunities, Inc.*, 68 P.3d 1015, 1019 (Utah App. 2003), this Court advised:

“Utah courts require specific objections in order ‘to bring all claimed errors to the trial court’s attention to give the court an opportunity to correct the errors if appropriate.’” *State v. Brown*, 856 P.2d 358, 361 (Utah Ct.App.1993) (quoting *VanDyke v. Mountain Coin Mach. Distrib., Inc.*, 758 P.2d 962, 964 (Utah Ct.App.1988)). “This specificity requirement arises out of the trial court’s need to assess allegations by isolating relevant facts and considering them in the context of the specific legal doctrine placed at issue.” *Id.* “The ‘mere mention’ of an issue without introducing supporting evidence or relevant legal authority does not preserve that issue for appeal.” *Id.* (quoting *LeBaron & Assoc. v. Rebel Enters.*, 823 P.2d 479, 483 (Utah Ct.App.1991)). “[F]or an issue to be sufficiently raised, even if indirectly, it must at least be raised to a level of consciousness such that the trial judge can consider it.” *Id.* (quotations and citations omitted).

Because Mr. Amott *did not object* to the allegedly offensive statements, Appellant cannot now assert that the trial court abused its discretion in permitting the statements to stand at trial. Appellant did not preserve its right to have this Court review the statements in question, and did not allow the trial court to rule on the relevancy of the statements in the first instance. It is worth noting that Appellant acknowledges that “Hatch’s attorney

failed on many occasions to [object] out of fear of offending the trial court and in the interests of time.” [See Appellant’s Brief, p. 9].

Finally, Appellant argues that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing the “Orem City” letter and “Explorers Club of New York City” article to be included as exhibits at trial. [See Appellant’s Brief, p. 12 and 14].

During testimony, Appellee Sykes referred to a letter dated February 11, 1981 from Orem City to Appellant Hatch in relation to the “Ragozzine” property. Appellant’s attorney, Mr. Amott, objected to inclusion of the letter and any testimony related thereto as “irrelevant.” [See October 25, 1999 Transcript of Proceedings, 5:18 through 6:24 (bate stamped 2473)]. The trial court then explained to Sykes that his testimony must be focused on “relevant information, evidence, testimony” concerning the trusts at issue in the litigation. [See October 25, 1999 Transcript of Proceedings, 7:7-15 (bate stamped 2473)].

Thereafter, the trial court allowed both Mr. Ludlow (who represented the Sykes Trust) and Mr. Amott to voir dire Appellee Sykes. During the course of the voir dire, Sykes explained why the parcel in issue was included in a particular trust. At the conclusion of the voir dire, the trial court ruled that the Orem City letter was relevant to the charges raised in the case (i.e. fraudulent conveyance) and allowed the letter to be included. [See October 25, 1999 Transcript of Proceedings, 8:2 through 13:10 (bate stamped 2473)]. Because the Orem City letter served as a partial explanation for why

Sykes transferred the “Ragozzine” property into the trust, the letter was relevant to Sykes’ defense as to the charge of fraudulent conveyance. The trial court ruled correctly in admitting the letter.

As to the “Explorers Club of New York City” article, Mr. Amott objected to its inclusion on the basis of relevance. The trial court ruled that although page 1 of the article was hearsay, page 2 was relevant as to the establishment of an insurance policy by Appellee Sykes, and as an explanation for why Sykes set up trusts. [See October 25, 1999 Transcript of Proceedings, 40:19 through 44:8 (bate stamped 2473)]. Again, these facts were relevant to Appellee Sykes’ defense as to why he established certain trusts.

Most importantly, Appellant offers no cognizable argument on appeal *against* the inclusion of either the Orem City letter or the “Explorers Club of New York City” article as evidence during trial. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing these to documents to be introduced for evidentiary purposes.

Even if this Court were to conclude that the trial court abused its discretion in permitting certain statements to be made during trial, or that the letter and article should not have been introduced on evidentiary grounds, Appellant must still establish that the error affected the outcome of the case. “If the error was harmless, that is, if the error was sufficiently inconsequential that there is no reasonable likelihood that it affected the outcome of the case, then a reversal is not in order.” *Price v. Armour*, 949 P.2d 1251, 1255 (Utah 1997) (citing *State v. Robertson*, 932 P.2d 1219, 1227 (Utah 1997)).

Appellant cannot prove that any alleged errors affected the outcome of the case.

Therefore, Appellant's qualms over "fairness" of the trial remain unproven.

2. The trial court did not err in allowing Jury Instruction #19 to be submitted to the jury.

"A trial court's ruling concerning a jury instruction is reviewed for correctness. A new trial will not be granted unless any error of the trial court was prejudicial, meaning that it misadvised or misled the jury on the law." *Butler v. Naylor*, 987 P.2d 41, 43 (Utah 1999) (citations omitted).

In *Davidson v. Prince*, 813 P.2d 1225 (Utah App. 1991), this Court considered whether a jury instruction on the tax consequences of a damage award was sufficiently prejudicial so as to affect the outcome of the damage award. This Court specifically considered the context in which the objectionable jury instruction was presented by referencing the other jury instructions given at the same time. *Id.* at 1230. After consideration, this Court determined that the objectionable jury instruction did not affect the outcome of the damages awarded. *Id.*

In *Cheves v. Williams*, 993 P.2d 191 (Utah 1999), the Utah Supreme Court provided clear guidelines for appellate courts who are asked to review the propriety of a jury instruction:

In reviewing a jury instruction, we consider the challenged instruction in context. "As we have repeatedly held, if the jury instructions as a whole fairly instruct the jury on the applicable law, reversible error does not arise merely because one jury instruction, standing alone, is not as accurate as it might have

been.” *Jensen v. Intermountain Power Agency*, 977 P.2d 474, 478 (Utah 1999) (quoting *Bott v. DeLand*, 922 P.2d 732, 741 (Utah 1996)) (other citations omitted).

Furthermore, an error in jury instructions may be harmless where the error is “sufficiently inconsequential so that no reasonable likelihood exists that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings.” *C.T. v. Johnson*, 977 P.2d 479, 484 (Utah 1999) (quoting *Jones v. Cyprus Plateau Min. Corp.*, 944 P.2d 357, 360 (Utah 1997)); *see also C.T.*, 977 P.2d at 484 (stating that we review “all of the jury instructions, the evidence, and closing arguments” to determine whether “it is highly probable that the jury considered each of the relevant ... factors during their deliberations even though not specifically instructed to do so”). Finally, we will not reverse for errors in jury instructions if the complaining party “fail[s] to demonstrate how the court’s refusal to adopt their proposed jury instructions prejudiced them.” *Walker Drug Co. v. La Sal Oil Co.*, 972 P.2d 1238, 1249 (Utah 1998).

The trial court in this case included twenty-eight jury instructions. [See Appellant’s brief, Addendum “B” for a copy of the jury instructions]. Appellant Hatch objects to the inclusion of a single jury instruction (#19) concerning equity. Jury instruction #19 indicates: “A remedy of equity, and one who invokes it must have clean hands in having done equity himself.”

On October 26, 1999, the trial judge, the attorneys, and Appellee Sykes discussed the equity/clean hands jury instruction #19. Sykes requested the inclusion of the equity/unclean hands instruction. The trial judge indicated that he would consider whether or not to include the instruction and notify the parties in the morning. [See October 26, 1999 Transcript of Proceedings, pp.3-4 (bate-stamped 002752)].

On October 27, 1999, the trial court reiterated that Plaintiff’s (Appellant’s)

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